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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

MIDDLE DIVISION 
 

 ) 
 ) 

WENDELL F. GILLEY, an  ) 
individual and as representative  ) 
participant,     ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 

v.      ) 
      ) CV-04- CLS-0562-M 
MONSANTO COMPANY, INC.,  ) 
et. al.      ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
      ) 

 
MOTION TO EXCEED CUSTOMARY PAGE LIMIT FOR BRIEF 

FILED IN SUPPORT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
 
 

Comes Now, Plaintiff, Wendell F. Gilley, as an individual and as a 

representative participant on behalf of the Monsanto Salaried Employees’ 

Pension Plan “the Plan” and files his motion to exceed the Court’s standard 

30 page limit on briefs filed in support of summary judgment.  As grounds 

for said motion Plaintiff states the following: 

1. The present litigation has been ongoing for four years. 

2. Plaintiff raises multiple claims in his amended complaint on 

behalf of himself individually and on behalf of the Plan. 
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3. The Employment Retirement Income Security Act “ERISA” is 

a complicated statutory law that requires frequent citation to the appropriate 

United States Code “USC” and corresponding ERISA and Internal Revenue 

Code “IRC”, the Code of Federal Regulations “CFR”, and the Treasury 

Regulations.  

4. Additionally, because ERISA is new, in terms of law, it 

requires thorough explanation with examples. 

5. Because Plaintiff’s claims on behalf of the Plan involve other 

plan participants it is necessary to introduce evidence of Defendants’ failure 

in regards to similarly situated participants and in regards to a multitude of 

violations of ERISA’s mandates for qualified plans. 

6. Because Defendants have utterly disregarded ERISA and IRC 

mandates in regards to their operation of the plan it is necessary to provide 

the Court with a thorough explanation and discussion of multiple violations 

that cannot be done within the 30 page limit. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Wendell F. Gilley, individually and on 

behalf of the Plan requests that the Court grant Plaintiff’s motion to exceed 

the customary page limit for a brief filed in support of summary judgment.  
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Respectfully submitted,  
  

/s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
_________________ 
Elisa Smith Rives  

    Attorney for plaintiff  
      Wendell F. Gilley 

       ASB - 9351-E61R 
OF COUNSEL: 
Elisa S. Rives, LLC 
2208 Ringold Street, Ste 103 
Guntersville, AL 35976 
Tel:  (256) 582-3559 
Fax: (256) 582-3559 
Cell: (256) 558-4626 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing was served by the electronic filing system for the Northern 
District of Alabama on the following counsel of record this the 20th day of 
March 2008. 

 
BRYAN CAVE, LLP 
Jeffrey S. Russell 
Darci F. Madden 
211 N. Broadway 
Suite 3600 
St. Louis, MO 63102 
 
BAXLEY, DILLARD, DAUPHIN,  
McKNIGHT & BARCLIFT 
Randy James 
2008 Third Avenue South  
Birmingham, AL 35233  
       /s/ Elisa Smith Rives 

     Elisa Smith Rives  
ASB # 9351-E61R 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

MIDDLE DIVISION 
 

 ) 
 ) 

WENDELL F. GILLEY, an  ) 
individual and as representative  ) 
participant of the Plan,   ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 

v.      ) 
      ) CV-04- CLS-0562-M 
MONSANTO COMPANY, INC.,  ) 
et. al.      ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
      ) 

 
PLAINTIFF’S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

_____________________________________________________________ 

Plaintiff, Wendell F. Gilley (“Gilley”), brought this action as an 

individual and as a representative participant on behalf of the Plan and a 

class of similarly situated participants pursuant to the Employee Retirement 

Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et. seq. 

(“ERISA”) against Monsanto Company, Inc., (“Monsanto”), Monsanto 

Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan, the (“Plan”), Pharmacia Corp. 

(“Pharmacia”), the Monsanto Company Employee Benefits Executive 
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Committee (“Executive Committee”), and the Employee Benefits Plan 

Committee (“Committee”), collectively (“Defendants”). The claims 

presented in this action arose as a result of Defendants’ violation of ERISA 

in regards to Defendants’ administration of the Plan.   Mr. Gilley, other 

participants, and the Plan have been injured by the Defendants’ actions or 

lack of action in violation of ERISA and are deserving of relief.   

FACTS 

1. Gilley a former Monsanto employee of the now defunct Sand 

Mountain plant in North Alabama worked for the company from August 

1972 to March 31, 1981.  Aug 2005 Transcript “TR”1  97: L6; 120: L8. 

2. Since 1940 Monsanto has sponsored a defined benefit pension plan 

for its employees, which has been amended and restated as separate plans 

from time to time in respect to certain groups of covered employees.  

Hearing Exhibit “Exh.” 12 at § 5(b).2 

3. The 1971 Monsanto Salaried Employe(e)s3 Pension Plan, the “1971 

Plan”, was in place when Gilley began his employment with Monsanto in 

August 1972.  TR 53:L5-7.  

                                                 
1 Transcript of the August 2005 in its entirety is located at Docket # 101.  Only excerpts 
are provided herein. 
2 Plaintiff’s Exhibit Numbers “Exh.” here correspond to Plaintiff’s Exhibit Numbers for 
the hearing of August 2005 already filed.  Only excerpts are provided herein.  
3 Monsanto misspelled [employee] in this manner presumably to distinguish plans. 
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4. The 1971 Plan used the “continuous service” method of calculating 

service time for vesting purposes.  Exh. 1 1971 Plan at R3, PT 13-15. 

5. The “continuous service” method became essentially the “elapsed 

time” method of crediting service under ERISA.  See 26 C.F.R. § 1.410(a)-7. 

6. The “elapsed time” method was proposed as an amendment to 29 

C.F.R. § 2530.200b-9, on December 28, 1976, and adopted and finalized as 

26 C.F.R. § 1.410(a)-7 on June 16, 1980.  26 C.F.R. § 1.410(a)-7 

7. The “continuous service” method of determining service time for 

vesting purposes utilizes a participant’s length of employment from starting 

date to termination date to establish a participant’s years of service for 

vesting purposes and entitlement to an accrued benefit.4  Exh. 1 1971 Plan at 

R3, PT 13-15.   

8. In 1976, Monsanto amended, restated and continued the 1971 Plan to 

conform to ERISA, the “1976 Plan”.  Exh. 5 1976 Plan at § 1.1. 

9. Beginning January 1, 1976, participants were to be credited with one 

year of Vesting Service for each calendar year in which he or she completed 

1,000 Hours of Service, the “1,000 Hour Rule”.  Exh. 5 1976 Plan at § 18.1, 

18.5; Exh. 2 1976 Summary Plan Description “SPD” at p. 41.   

                                                 
4 All three plans, the 1971 Plan, the 1976 Plan and the 1981 Plan, utilized different 
methods to determine credited service time for vesting purposes requiring ten years of 
credited service to be entitled to an accrued benefit.  
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10. The 1976 Plan was the first ERISA plan and the first Monsanto plan 

to utilize ERISA’s hours of service rules to calculate credited service time 

for vesting and benefits purposes.  See ERISA §§ 202-204; Exh. 5 1976 Plan 

§ 18.1, 18.5; Exh. 2 1976 SPD at p. 41.   

11. An Hour of Service is defined by the 1976 Plan as an hour, for which 

an employee receives compensation, either directly or indirectly, for services 

rendered to the employer.  Exh. 5 1976 Plan § 18.5; Exh. 2 1976 SPD at p. 

41.   

12. Hours of service include: all overtime clock hours; hours of service 

required to be taken into account to satisfy federal military service laws . . . ; 

hours of absence from active work because of regular paid vacations or 

holidays; hours of absence from active work because of occupational or non-

occupational illness or disability . . . or layoff. Id. (emphasis added).   

13. According to the 1976 SPD participants were to be credited with 

Vesting Service according to the 1000 Hour Rule or under prior Company 

pension plans— whichever was more favorable to the participant.  Exh. 2 

1976 SPD at p. 41. 

14. The 1976 SPD states that terminated participants with ten years of 

Vesting Service are entitled to receive a deferred pension benefit starting at 

age 65 or earlier.  Exh. 2 1976 SPD at p. 39.   
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15. The 1976 Monsanto Salaried Employe(e)s’ Pension Plan is a qualified 

plan for favorable tax treatment pursuant to Section 410(b)(1)(B) only if “it 

covers a broad cross section of employees such that there is no 

discrimination in favor of employees who are officers, shareholders, or 

highly compensated.” IRC § 410(b)(1) & (2); Exh. 11 at fn 3 (MON-

002368); Exh. A § 16 (MON-003236).  

16. The SPD states “forfeitures are applied to reduce future Company 

contributions”.5  Exh. 2 at p. 39.   

17. The 1976 Plan was conformed to final regulations under ERISA in 

July 1979, and a favorable Internal Revenue Service “IRS” Determination 

Letter was issued November 7, 1979, and received November 13, 1979.  

Exh. P (MON-002677); Exh. 10 (MON-002716).  

18.  The record does not reveal when the 1976 SPDs were furnished to 

participants and the DOL, but ERISA requires that SPDs be furnished to 

participants and the DOL within 120 days of the Plan being subject to 

ERISA’s reporting and disclosure requirements.  ERISA § 104(b)(1)(B); see 

also Exh. P (MON-2680).   

                                                 
5 Monsanto as the plan sponsor benefits from forfeitures of non-highly compensated 
“non-HCEs” employees by reducing the amount of future contributions to the trust fund 
to meet minimum annual funding requirements thus reserving plan funds for highly 
compensated employees “HCEs” and company revenue projections.  TR. 272:L 17 to 
277: L 9. 
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19. Monsanto announced the closing of the Sand Mountain plant on or 

about January 13, 1981.  Exh. B & C.    

20. Members of Monsanto’s management held meetings in shifts with 

employees to discuss benefits, the layoff, and the plant’s closure on D-Day.  

Exh. B-F6; TR 120: L 8 to L 14. 

21. Monsanto closed the Sand Mountain plant in February 1981 after nine 

years of production.  [R 35 ¶ 26]. 

22. Gilley worked until March 31, 1981, on a plant closure team. TR 105: 

L 14.  

23. Gilley and other participants received documents from management 

that advised them of their eligibility for retirement benefits.  Exh. B-F; Exh. 

G 43:L3 to 50:L 16; Affidavit “Aff.” Ms. Dennis Womack “Ms. Womack” ¶ 

7; Aff. Ms. Eunice Strawn “Ms. Strawn” ¶ 4.  

24. Monsanto chose to eliminate nonexempt employees’ jobs when it 

closed the Sand Mountain plant. Exh. D. 

25. Monsanto placed nonexempt employees’ on “layoff” status for a 

period of one year. Exh. D, D-1, D-2.  

                                                 
6 Documents relating to benefits and the closing of the Sand Mountain plant were 
retrieved by counsel for plaintiff and defendants from the subsequent owner of the Sand 
Mountain plant property.   
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26. Monsanto chose to eliminate exempt employees’ jobs when it closed 

the Sand Mountain plant. Exh. E. 

27. Only upper management and professional employees (HCEs) were 

retained by Monsanto when the Sand Mountain plant closed.  Exh. F.  

28. The 1976 Plan was in place when Monsanto announced it was closing 

the Sand Mountain plant. See infra ¶¶ 72-87.  

29. Gilley and other participants including his team leader recall members 

of Monsanto’s management telling them there was a cut-off date; if a person 

was hired prior to the cut-off date then that person was vested and entitled to 

a retirement benefit.  TR at 89:L 2-13; Exh. G at 50: L 6-11; Exh. J at 15: L4 

to 17: L 16; Exh. S at 98:L 11 to 102: L 7; Exh. 36 at Aff. Gilley (December 

10, 2003 “First” ¶ 8); Exh. 36 at Aff. Larry Segers “Mr. Segers” (             

“First”     ); (February 13, 2008 “Second” ¶ 7).  

30. Gilley and other participants testified that they recall the cut-off date 

was September 1972.7  Exh. G at 50: L 6-11; Exh. J at 16: L13 to 22; Exh. S 

at 98: L 11 to 102: L 7; Mr. Gilley’s Second Aff. ¶ 16. 

                                                 
7Monsanto had a general policy of encouraging every employee to work overtime.  In 
1972, Gilley testified he worked as much overtime as physically possible as did other 
employees.  Gilley had 1000 hours of service in 1972. 29 §§ 2530.200b-2(d)(1) & (2). 
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31. Gilley testified he received a document regarding his pension 

eligibility, but he has been unable to locate the document given to him by 

Monsanto twenty-seven years ago. TR at 194: L12 to L 15. 

32. Other participants recall being given documents regarding their 

pension eligibility when the plant was preparing to close, but like Gilley they 

cannot locate these documents. Aff. Ms.Womack ¶ 7; Aff. Ms. Strawn ¶ 4.  

33. After announcing the closing of the Sand Mountain plant to 

employees on or around January 13, 1981 Monsanto’s Board of Directors 

approved the shutdown at its January 23, 1981 Board Meeting.  Id. at 

(MON-001285). 

34. Monsanto’s Board of Directors approved in principle the 1981 

amendment of the Plan at its January 23, 1981, Board Meeting. Exh. H 

(MON-001288). 

35. The first step taken towards formally amending the 1976 Plan as the 

1981 Plan was the Board of Directors approving in principle the amendment 

of the Plan, and giving the Executive Committee the authority to approve in 

form and content the revisions of the 1976 Plan as the Monsanto Salaried 

Employees’ Pension Plan 1981, the “1981 Plan”. Exh. H (MON-001288).  

36. The process of adopting a formal plan amendment is a multiple step 

process that can take a year or more. For example: the 1976 Plan was 
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approved in principle by the Board of Directors on February 25, 1976, made 

effective retroactively to January 1, 1976, presented to the Committee in its 

final form on December 17, 1976, and authorized by the Executive 

Committee of the Board of Directors in early 1977.  Exh. I (MON 001308).   

37. Monsanto formally adopts amendments to its plan subject to approval 

by the IRS.  For example, the following was submitted with Form 5300 for 

the 1982 amendment:  

Company’s obtaining necessary approval from the Internal 
Revenue Service not later than the time required by the laws 
and regulations of the IRS for such approval, and pursuant to 
the authority delegated by the Board of Directors of the 
Company to the Executive Committee to approve the adoption 
of, and amendments to, the Company’s pension plans for and 
on behalf of employees of the Company . . .   
 
Exh. A (MON-003231-2). 

 

38. A favorable IRS Determination Letter for the 1976 Plan was issued 

November 7, 1979, and received November 13, 1979.  Exh. P.  

39. Unfortunately, Defendants, despite a motion to compel here and in 

Heptinstall v. Monsanto, refused to produce the full (Forms 5300 & Form 

5302) IRS Determination packets for the 1976 Plan and the 1981 Plan as 
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amended and restated showing the exact format of the 1976 Plan Document 

and the 1981 Plan Document as approved by the IRS.8   

40. The 1981 Plan, and the 95-Hour Rule incorporated therein, was not 

formally adopted until the process was complete and SPDs were furnished to 

participants and the Department of Labor (“DOL”) as required by ERISA’s 

reporting and disclosure rules.  ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104; Exhs. 10-13 Form 

5500 § 8 1979-1982.   

41. Gilley and other nonexempt salaried employees of the defunct Sand 

Mountain plant were placed on “layoff status” when their active “work” 

service for Monsanto ended in early 1981. Exh. D & D-1. 

42. Employees of Sand Mountain plant accrued credited service time for 

vesting and benefit service for one year while on “layoff” status. Exh. D-1. 

43. Monsanto automatically terminated employees at the expiration of the 

one-year “layoff” period, at which time they received a form for final 

distribution from their SIP plan.  Exh. K; TR 120:L 3 to L7; see also TR 

360:L 9-10. 

44. On July 27, 1982, Monsanto’s plan administrator filed the first Annual 

Return for the 1981 Plan.  Exh. 12 & 12-1.   

                                                 
8 Defendants also refused to produce discovery on the issue of when SPDs were furnished 
to participants and the DOL, and records of the Board of Directors’ Resolutions 
approving the adoption of and amendment to the 1976 Plan and the 1981 Plan.   
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45. Plan administrators are required to report participants who are 

separated from service who have a deferred vested benefit on the plan’s 

“Schedule SSA (Form 5500)-Annual Registration Statement Identifying 

Separated Participant With Deferred Vested Benefits” (“Form 5500”) with 

the plan’s annual return. Exh. 10-13; see also Exh. A (MON-003234); Exh. 

P (MON-002679). 

46. Plans as part of their reporting and disclosure requirements under 

ERISA and the IRC are required to file Form 5500 to protect participants’ 

rights and benefits and to ensure benefit plans are operated and managed in 

accordance with prescribed standards.  ERISA § 103 (29 U.S.C. § 1023); 26 

USC § 6057; see also Exh. A Pub. (MON 003224). 

47. According to the IRS, Form 5500 is essential to ERISA and IRC 

compliance:  

The Form 5500 Series is an important compliance, research, 
and disclosure tool for the Department of Labor, a disclosure 
document for plan participants and beneficiaries, and a source 
of information and data for use by other Federal agencies, 
Congress, and the private sector in assessing employee benefit, 
tax, and economic trends and policies.  The Form 5500 Series is 
part of ERISA's overall reporting and disclosure framework, 
which is intended to assure that employee benefit plans are 
operated and managed in accordance with certain prescribed 
standards and that participants and beneficiaries, as well as 
regulators, are provided or have access to sufficient information 
to protect the rights and benefits of participants and 
beneficiaries under employee benefit plans.  
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See http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/5500main.html 

48. Accurately reporting participants with entitlements to a deferred 

vested benefit is a crucial aspect of ERISA’s protection scheme because it 

ensures that funding, which is done on an actuarial basis, is adequate and 

meets minimum standards established by law.  26 USC § 412; 26 USC § 

6059. 

49.  The plan administrator is required to verify the returns along with the 

Schedule SSA under penalty of perjury to ensure that participants receive 

their pension benefit at retirement.  26 U.S.C. § 6065. 

50. The plan administrator for Monsanto did not report salaried 

nonexempt participants with a known deferred vested benefit who were 

terminated from Sand Mountain on Schedule SSA Form 5500 on the 1980 

annual return, the 1981 annual return filed July 27, 1982, or the 1982 annual 

return filed July 1982.  Exh. X compare Exhs. 11-1 to 13-1.   

51. The plan administrator for Monsanto failed to report 82 salaried 

nonexempt participants with a known deferred vested benefit on Schedule 

SSA for 1980, 1981, and 1982 annual returns.  Exh. X compare Exhs. 11-1 

to 13-1.   

52. The plan administrator for Monsanto reported only 28 salaried low 

level exempt participants (team-leaders) entitled to a known separated 
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deferred vested benefit on Schedule SSA, some were reported in 1981 while 

others were reported in 1982.  Exh. X-1 compare Exhs. 11-1, 12-1 & 13-1.    

53. Adobe files for many of the employees who were identified by 

Plaintiff earlier in this litigation as being separated participants entitled to a 

deferred vested benefit who were not listed on Schedule SSA for years 

1980-1982 were tagged with a notice “Gilley v. Monsanto do not destroy 

without specific authorization from the Law Department.”  These personnel 

files were some of the first to be shredded.  See Exhs. X9; Exhs. X-1; Aff. 

James R. “J. R.” Rives; Aff. Elisa S. “E. S.” Rives ; Exh. Y; Exh. V.  

54. Defendants produced no Schedule SSA Form 5500 for any plan year 

where salaried nonexempt participants with a known deferred vested benefit 

that were terminated from Sand Mountain in either 1981 or 1982 were 

reported as being entitled to such.  Exhs. 11-1 to 13-1; Exhs. X, X-1, X-2. 

55. The Sand Mountain plant at peak production employed approximately 

1200 employees.  When the plant closed there were at least 582 employees10 

known to be still working at the Sand Mountain. Exh. X-2. 

                                                 
9 The notation Flag refers to the notice for the file not to be removed or destroyed 
without specific authorization from the Law Department marked Gilley v. Monsanto.  See 
Exh. Y.  Only one or two documents per file were scanned, notably the confidentiality 
agreement. Id; Exh. U. 
10 This list of 582 employees is derived from documents recovered from the Sand 
Mountain plant by counsel from Mr. James Hutchinson.  Exh. X-2.  The list is only a 
partial list of employees still employed when the plant closed.  Because documentation 
was shredded and Defendants refuse additional discovery it is impossible to tell how 
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56. None of these 582 employees known to still be working at the plant 

when it closed were reported as being separated with a deferred vested 

benefit.  Exh. X-2. 

57. According to IRS Publication 794:  “Allocation of forfeitures.  If 

employee turnover results in the allocation of forfeitures principally to 

officers, shareholders, and highly compensated employees, a favorable 

determination will not apply.” Exh. A (MON-003224); Exh. P (MON-

002679). 

58. Mr. Larry Segers (“Mr. Segers”) was a salaried nonexempt participant 

with a deferred vested benefit who went on “layoff” status in 1981 and who 

was terminated from the Sand Mountain plant in 1982 who was not 

reported on Schedule SSA (Form 5500) for plan years 1980-1982. Aff. Mr. 

Segers; Exh. X; Exh. V.  

59. Mr. Kenneth Mitchell (“Mr. Mitchell”) was a salaried nonexempt 

participant with a deferred vested benefit who went on “layoff” status in 

1981 and was terminated from the Sand Mountain plant in 1982 who was 

not reported on Schedule SSA (Form 5500) for plan years 1980-1982.  Aff. 

Mr. Mitchell; Exh. X.  

                                                                                                                                                 
many of these employees are nonexempt employees and how many are entitled to a 
deferred vested benefit.      
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60. Ms. Strawn was a salaried nonexempt participant with a deferred 

vested benefit who went on “layoff” in 1981 and was terminated from the 

Sand Mountain plant in 1982 who was not reported on Schedule SSA 

(Form 5500) for plan years 1980-1982.  Aff. Ms. Strawn ¶ 3; Exh. X . 

61. Ms. Womack testified that she worked for Monsanto Company at the 

Sand Mountain plant from November 1971 until 1986.  Aff. Ms. Womack ¶ 

3.  

62. Ms. Womack testified she started as a keypunch operator in the 

computer room entering time records and payroll records.11  Id. at ¶¶ 10-13. 

63. Ms. Womack testified she entered time and pay records into the 

computer in 1972. Id. 

64. Ms. Womack testified that regular payroll checks were cut in St. 

Louis. Id. at ¶ 14. 

65. Ms. Womack testified that all the papers and records were transferred 

to the “formerly” Monsanto Company plant in Decatur, Alabama, now 

“Solutia” when the Sand Mountain plant closed. Id. at ¶ 16. 

66. Ms. Womack testified she did not receive the 1981 SPD “Benefits … 

for Monsanto people”.  Id. at ¶ 6. 

                                                 
11 Defendants have maintained for litigation purposes that they did not computerize and 
keep time records for 1972.  Aff. Brian Buettner “Buettner” ¶ 7 filed April 25, 2005; 
Declaration Buettner ¶ 11 filed January 31, 2005; but see Exh. 1 at SM-9.  
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67. Ms. Womack testified she did not receive any documents regarding 

her pension after she left the Sand Mountain plant. Id. at ¶ 9. 

68. Ms. Womack testified when she turned 55 she telephoned a toll-free 

number in St. Louis and applied for her pension benefit. Id. ¶ 18. 

69. Ms. Womack testified that after updating the information with the 

benefit center she received a packet about her pension, that she completed 

and returned, and she started receiving a check from Fidelity Investments on 

behalf of Monsanto Company. Id. at ¶¶ 19-22. 

70. Mr. Segers, Mr. Mitchell and Ms. Strawn, like Ms. Womack, testified 

they did not receive any documents from Monsanto regarding their pensions 

after leaving the Sand Mountain plant. Aff. Mr. Segers ¶¶ 9, 10; Aff. Mr. 

Mitchell ¶¶ 5-6, Aff. Ms. Strawn ¶ 6.   

71. Ms. Strawn, who draws a retirement check from Solutia Incorporated 

“Solutia”, testified she telephoned a Monsanto number in St. Louis and told 

them when she was ready to retire. Aff. Ms. Strawn ¶ 7 (Ms. Strawn’s 

affidavit states that she receives a pension from Monsanto in actuality the 

pension is from Solutia). 

72. According to the 1981 Annual Return, the first return filed for the 

1981 Plan, the 1981 Plan was adopted on 6-15-1982.  Exh. 12 § 8 (MON 

002618). 
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73. The plan administrator under Section 8(c) of the Annual Return for 

the 1981 Plan lists 6-15-1982 as the plan’s response to the question “Enter 

the date the most recent amendment was adopted”.  Id. at § 8(c). 

74. The plan administrator answered “YES” under Section 8(a) to the 

question:  “Was any amendment to this plan adopted in this plan year?”  Id 

at § 8(a). 

75. Under Section 8(b) of the Annual Return, the plan administrator 

records the following responses:  “If “Yes,” (i) And if any amendments have 

resulted in a change in the information contained in a summary plan 

description or previously furnished summary description of modifications— 

 (A) Have summary descriptions of change(s) been sent to 

participants?  YES. 

 (B)    Have summary descriptions of the change(s) been filed with 

DOL?   YES.”  Id. at § 8(b). 

76. Under Section 8(b)(ii) of the Annual Return, the plan administrator 

gives the following response:  “Does the amendment result in the reduction 

of the accrued benefit of any participant under the plan? NO.”  Id.  at § 

8(b)(ii). 
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77. Under Section 8(d)(i) of the Annual Return, the plan administrator 

gives the following response:  “[h]as a summary plan description been filed 

with DOL for this plan? YES.” Id. at § 8(d)(i). 

78. The first Annual Return for the 1981 Plan, filed 7-27-1982, shows the 

Plan was amended and change(s) were made to the plan requiring the DOL 

and participants to be furnished with summary descriptions on 6-15-1982.  

ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104; Exh. 10-12 § 8 at (MON 002362, 002690, 

002618). 

79. The plan administrator reported no other amendments to the 1976 

Plan or the 1981 Plan on any Annual Returns from January 1979 to July 

1982 where the administrator acknowledged the furnishing of summary 

descriptions of changes(s) to participants and the DOL. Exh. 10-12 § 8.  

80. On the 1980 Annual Return filed 7-27-1981, the last Return filed for 

the 1976 Plan, the Monsanto administrator reported an amendment adopted 

4-27-1981, but neither this amendment nor any other amendment reported 

for the 1980 plan year, made any changes requiring summary descriptions to 

be filed with the DOL and to be sent to participants.  ERISA §§ 101-2, 104; 

Exh. 11 § 8 (MON 002362).   

81. The only other amendment requiring participants and the DOL to be 

furnished with summary descriptions of change(s) in the information 
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furnished to participants and the DOL was an amendment adopted 9-10-

1982 and reported by the plan administrator on the 1982 Annual Return filed 

7-26-1983. Exh. A; Exh. 13 § 8 (MON-002567). 

82. An IRS Determination Letter (Form 5300) for the amendment adopted 

9-10-1982 and reported on the 1982 Annual Return was requested by 

Monsanto on December 30, 1982, issued March 15, 1983, and received 

March 21, 1983. Exh A. (MON-003221-2) 

83. Any amendment that affects or may affect participants’ rights and 

eligibility for benefits triggers the furnishing of SPDs to participants.  

ERISA §§ 101-2, 104. 

84. The 95-Hour Rule, which changed the vesting schedule for the Plan 

and which had an affect on participants’ rights and eligibility, appeared for 

the first time in its written formal form in a 1981 SPD and Plan.  ERISA §§ 

101-2, 104, 203(b)(2)(A) and 202(3)(A); Exh. L; compare Exh. A at pp. 69-

71 with DExh. 4 at pp. 69-71 with Exh. 5 at pp. 65-67; see also Exh. A § 

1.1(acknowledging the 1976 Plan prior to adoption of the 1981 Plan). 

85.  
“ERISA requires administrators of employee pension benefit 
plans to meet certain reporting and disclosure requirements. 
Within 120 days after a new plan comes into existence, plan 
administrators are to file a summary plan description (SPD) 
with the Secretary of Labor.  A summary plan description also 
must be provided to each plan participant and beneficiary 
within 120 days after establishment of a plan.”  
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Exh. A (MON-003225); Exh. P. (MON-002680); ERISA § 104(b)(1)(B).  

86. The formal adoption of the 1981 Plan required SPDs to be furnished 

to participants and the Secretary of Labor within 120 days of its becoming 

subject to ERISA’s reporting and disclosure rules. ERISA § 104(b)(1)(B). 

87. Highlight Booklets of the 1981 Plan, which were provided to 

participants in early 1981, do not mention the 95-Hour Rule.  TR 72: L 13 to 

74: L 22; Exh. 3; see also Exh. M.   

88. Monsanto’s plan administrator did not furnish detailed 1981 SPDs to 

former employees and participants of the Plan who were entitled to a 

deferred retirement benefit after the Sand Mountain plant closed.12  Exh. G 

66:L 19 to 67:L 2; TR 72:L 13 to 74: L 4; Aff. Mr. Segers ¶ 10; Aff. Ms. 

Womack ¶ 6; Aff. Mr. Mitchell ¶ 6; Aff. Mr. Strawn ¶ 6. 

89.   ERISA does not permit clandestine amendments or the plan 

administrator to select among different amendments to intentionally cause 

forfeiture.  ERISA §§ 101-2, 104, 203.   

                                                 
12 Defendants refuse to produce discovery on the issue of when the 1981 SPDs were 
furnished to participants and the DOL and the formal adoption of the 1981 Plan.  The 
1981 SPD “Exh. L” mentions the 95 Hour Rule unlike the Highlights “Exh. 3 and Exh 
M”.  The 1981 SPD also mentions increases in benefits as of January 1, 1983, at least 
implying the 1981 SPD was not furnished to participants until late 1982 at the earliest.  
Exh. L. (MON 001095).   
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90. Gilley and other nonexempt participants entitled to a deferred vested 

benefit were no longer employed with Monsanto when the 1981 Plan was 

adopted and when the 1981 SPDs were furnished to participants.   

91. Gilley and other nonexempt participants formerly employed at the 

Sand Mountain plant did not receive information regarding their pension 

benefits after leaving the plant as required by ERISA.  ERISA § 101; Affs. 

Mr. Segers ¶¶ 9-10; Ms. Womack ¶¶ 6, 9; Ms. Strawn ¶ 6; Mr. Mitchell ¶ 6. 

92. When out-processing employees from the plant the Personnel and 

Services Department was directed to collect from them all materials, of 

whatever kind, received in connection with their employment, including but 

not limited, to their 1971 and 1976 SPDs “Monsanto and You”.  Exh. N.   

93. Because nonexempt participants that were promised a pension benefit 

by Monsanto’s management when the plant closed were not furnished with 

periodic benefit statements they would typically telephone the benefits 

center in St. Louis or the benefit center at the Monsanto Decatur plant when 

they planned to retire.  Affs. Ms. Strawn ¶ 7, Ms. Womack ¶ 18.  

94. Gilley, like other participants that had been promised a pension 

benefit by Monsanto’s management when the plant closed, telephoned the 

benefits center at Solutia (the successor entity) in Decatur, Alabama in early 
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January 2001 to inquire about receiving his retirement pension benefit when 

he reached sixty years of age in 2001.  TR 145: L 8 to 146: L 24; Id.   

95. All the employment records and other documents from the defunct 

Sand Mountain plant were moved to the Decatur, Alabama plant when the 

Sand Mountain plant closed.  Aff. Ms. Womack ¶ 16.  

96. The Decatur, Alabama plant was a resource center for the former Sand 

Mountain employees after the plant closed.  

97. Gilley, like other nonexempt participants, was initially told that he 

was entitled to a retirement benefit by a representative of the benefit group at 

the Decatur plant.  TR 146:L 8-23; TR 124; TR 147:L12 to L17. 

98. When Gilley did not hear anything further from the benefits group in 

Decatur he telephoned again and was told this time that he needed to contact 

the Fidelity Benefit Service Center (herein “Benefit Service Center”) 

regarding his pension.  TR 146: L 24 to 148: L 19. 

99. Gilley communicated with the Fidelity Benefit Service Center for 

several months regarding his pension.  Exh. 31.  

100. According to Mr. Brian Buettner “Mr. Buettner”, a Monsanto 

employee under the Secretary of the Committee and the plan administrator, 

benefit determinations are revisited when participants apply for their 

benefits. TR 343: L 16 to L 18; TR 353:L 13 to 354: L 2.  
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101. Mr. Buettner testified the decision to provide pension benefits is made 

when participants apply for their retirement benefit based on demographic13 

information. Id; TR 258: L 4-56; TR 345: L 10 to L 14 compare Exh. A Pub. 

794 regarding Form 5500.     

102. ERISA, however, requires terminated participants with a deferred 

vested benefit to be reported on the plan’s annual returns Schedule SSA 

(Form 5500) for the protection of participant’s property rights, to ensure 

adequate funding for the plan, and to ensure coverage by the Pension Benefit 

Guarantee Corporation “PBGC”.  ERISA § 103; Exh. A (MON 003224). 

103. Once a participant’s eligibility for a deferred vested benefit has been 

determined at separation and reported on Schedule SSA Form 5500, the plan 

administrator cannot revisit eligibility.   

104. By not reporting nonexempt participants with a deferred vested 

benefit on Schedule SSA Form 5500 the plan administrator, acting in the 

sponsor’s profit interest, is free to revisit eligibility of non-HCEs at any time 

to create forfeitures as needed. Exhs.  12-1, 13-1. 

105.  By causing intentional forfeitures of nonexempt participants’ accrued 

benefits the plan administrator boosts the plan sponsor’s profit because 

                                                 
13 Demographics refers to “the demographic characteristics of a population, esp. as 
classified by age, sex, income, [geographic location] etc. for market research, 
sociological analysis, etc.”   Victoria Neufeldt and David B. Guralnik, WEBSTER’S NEW 
WORLD COLLEGE DICTIONARY 3RD (1997). 
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forfeitures are applied to reduce the company’s future contributions to the 

trust plus it reserves funds already held in trust for HCEs.  Exhs. 2 at 39; see 

¶ 16 supra. 

106. Employe(e) Status Sheets and Computer Termination Files produced 

by Monsanto show Gilley recorded as having ten years of credited service 

time with an employment date of August 1972 and a termination date of 

September 27, 198214.  TR 206:L 16-21; 327:L 16 to 355:L 25; Exhs. 16, 17. 

107. The Monsanto plan administrator revisiting Gilley’s eligibility applied 

the 1981 Plan amendment adopted after Gilley was terminated as follows: 

1972 – (0.411 years of service); 
 
1973-1980 – (8 years of service); 
 
1981 – ( 1 year of service, 3 months of credited service for 
work from January 1, 1981 to March 31, 1981, plus 9 
months due to layoff); 
 
1982 – (0.183 years of credited service for 2 months due to 
layoff); 
 
Total = 9.594 years of service including 11 months due to 
layoff from March 31, 1981 to February 27, 1982.15   

Exh. Q. 

                                                 
14   One way of recording a year of credited service for a partial year of service where the 
participant has 1000 hours of service would be to adjust the employees’ termination date.  
15 The 1976 and 1981 Plan both gave credited service for being on layoff, a year of 
service under the 1976 Plan and up to a year of credit service under the 1981 Plan.     
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108. Monsanto’s plan administrator recommended that the Committee 

deny Gilley’s pension benefit.  Exh. 36 (MON-003797). 

109. Monsanto’s plan administrator submitted a report to the Committee 

recommending the denial of Gilley’s pension benefit based on the 1981 

Plan, an amendment formally adopted after Gilley was no longer actively 

employed, and attached a memorandum regarding the 95-Hour Rule dated 

September of 1979.  Exh. 36 (MON 003777-003781). 

110. The plan administrator also referenced the 1971 Plan without any 

mention of the intervening 1976 Plan.  Id. 

111. Neither the plan administrator nor the Committee considered the 1976 

Plan under which Gilley’s accrued benefit became nonforfeitable.  Id. 

112. Although Mr. Buettner recommended the denial of Gilley’s pension 

benefit he testified that he provided only the materials for the Committee’s 

determination without making a recommendation.  TR 254:L 13-17; Exh. 36 

(MON- 003779). 

113. The Committee denied the administrative appeal. Exh. 36 (MON-

003774). 

114. Suit was filed in March 2004.  [R 1]. 
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115. Defendants filed along with a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) a 

conformed copy of the Plan containing the 95-Hour Rule and represented it 

as the actual 1976 Plan. [R 8, 9]. 

116. Counsel for defense in the hearing of August 2005 repeatedly stated, 

without any evidence in the record to support this conclusion, that the 95-

Hour Rule was adopted in 1979.   TR 71:L 1 to 74:L 26; TR 159:L1 to 

160:L 26. 

117. Defendants maintained that Gilley’s claims amounted to nothing more 

than a claim for benefits under Section 502(a)(1)(B) for a sympathetic 

Plaintiff. [R 48, 61, 63, 64]. 

118. Defendants insisted on a limited hearing on the issue of whether 

Gilley had 1000 hours of service in 1972. [R 78, 79]. 

119. The district court determined that Gilley satisfies all the service 

requirements under the 1976 Plan, the Plan in place when he went on 

“layoff” and the Plan in place when he was automatically terminated in early 

1982 as follows: 

1972 (1 year of credited service for 1000 HOURS OF 
SERVICE including overtime hours worked); 

 
1973 — December 31, 1980 – (8 years); 
1981 — (1 year of credited vesting service, three months for 
work performed for Monsanto from January 1, 1981 to March 
31, 1981, plus nine months due to  layoff); 
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1982 – (Three months of credited vesting service for a total of 
12 months due to layoff) 
 
Total = 10 plus years of credited vesting service. Exh. 5 §§ 18.1, 18.5; 

Exh. 2 at pp. 39-41. 

120. As of December 31, 1980, in the event of a layoff, Gilley was fully 

vested with ten years of vesting service entitling him to 100 percent of his 

nonforfeitable accrued benefit derived from his employer’s contribution 

pursuant to the 1976 Plan.  ERISA § 203(c)(1)(A)(B); IRC § 411(a)(10). 

121. The district court ordered Defendants to pay accrued benefits on past 

due payments plus interest and continue to pay retirement benefits as they 

accrue because ERISA, as an equitable doctrine, entitles participant to their 

rightful property held in trust. [R 117].  

122. Defendants appealed. [R 135]. 

123. Defendants misrepresented to the court of appeals16 that the 95-Hour 

Rule was adopted in 1979.  TR 71:1 to 2, 9-14; TR 75:L 10; TR 158:L 17; 

TR 159:L 19-20.  

124. The 95-Hour Rule appears for the first time in the 1981 Plan, which 

was adopted after and not prior to January 1, 1981.  See supra ¶¶ 72-87; 
                                                 
16 Defendants state “[t]he Plan expressly adopted the 95-Hour Rule, and the Committee 
acted within its discretion when it interpreted the Plan to apply the 95-Hour Rule to 
salaried non-exempt employees, such as plaintiff.  In 1979, the Committee studied and 
resolved the question of whether to count overtime hours in addition to providing 95 
hours of credit for each period for salaried non-exempt employees”. (emphasis added).  
Id. at p. 33.   
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compare  Exh. A at pp. 69-71 with DExh. 4 at pp. 69-71 and with Exh. 5 at 

pp. 65-67. 

125. The trial record is void of any supporting evidence for the proposition 

that the 95-Hour Rule, which was incorporated into the 1981 Plan, was 

formally adopted prior to the 1981 Plan amendment. Compare Exh. A at pp. 

69-71 with DExh. 4 at pp. 69-71 with Exh. 5 at pp. 65-67. 

126. Mr. Buettner’s testimony lacks credibility: compare TR 260:L 15-

261:L 5 and ERISA § 203 and IRC § 411(a)(10) (only the Plan in effect on 

the employees’ separation date is applicable to a participant’s credited 

service); compare  TR 261:L 8-11 and Exh. 36 (he never considered the 

1971 Plan); compare TR 343:L 12-18 and Form 5500 and ERISA § 104 

(eligibility is determined when participants apply for benefits); compare 

399:L 24 to 400: L1 and Aff. Ms. Womack ¶¶ 10-13 (regarding company 

records for hours worked in 1972); compare 413:L 10-11 and Exh. K 

(regarding automatic termination versus choosing termination); compare TR 

254:L 13-17 and  Exh. 36 (MON- 003779) (regarding recommendation to 

the Committee); see also TR 336:L8 to 338:L24 (explanation of Employee 

Status Sheets and Computer Termination Files as address change). 

127. Defendants at all costs sought a favorable decision from the court of 

appeals to be used as precedent by Monsanto as a means of concealing the 
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intervening 1976 Plan to cause forfeiture of otherwise nonforfeitable accrued 

benefits.  Parklane Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore, 439 U.S. 322 (1979); see also 

Gilley v. Monsanto, 490 F.3d. 848, 860 (11th Cir. 2007).  

128. The funds held in trust belong to nonexempt participants’ who 

were separated with a deferred vested benefit who Monsanto’s plan 

administrator did not report on the plan’s annual returns as required by 

ERISA.  ERISA §§ 101, 104, 105. 

129. Plaintiff’s counsel filed an administrative appeal on behalf of another 

nonexempt participant, Robert H. Heptinstall “Mr. Heptinstall” who also 

worked at the Sand Mountain plant for approximately the same amount of 

time as Gilley who was denied his pension based on the plan administrator 

revisiting eligibility based on the 1981 Plan. Exhs. W, W-1 

130.  Initially the Committee calculated Mr. Heptinstall’s credited service 

under the 1981 vesting schedule based on a hire date of August 30, 1972 and 

a termination date of 01-01-1982 (The termination date was altered by 

someone typing a zero over the one).  Exh. W-1; Exh. W. 

131.   When Plaintiff’s counsel questioned the termination date the 

Committee finally admitted Mr. Heptinstall’s termination date was 11-1-

1982, but denied Mr. Heptinstall his accrued benefit.  Exhs. W; W-1. 
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132. The Employe(e) Status Sheet for Mr. Heptinstall, like Gilley, showed 

an adjusted termination date to reflect the year of credited service he was 

entitled to for 1972 under the 1976 Plan.17  Exh. W-1; Exh. 16. 

133. The Committee, rubberstamping the plan administrator’s decision to 

revisit eligibility for the unreported nonexempt participants insisted that the 

vesting schedule under the 1981 Plan was the only one to apply and denied 

Mr. Heptinstall’s appeal.  Exh. W. 

134. Solutia was formed in September 1997 when Pharmacia (now a 

subsidiary of Pfizer), then known as the former Monsanto Company, spun it 

off as an independent entity.18 Exh. O (MON-00647).   

135. Solutia filed for bankruptcy protection in December 2003 seeking 

release from legacy liabilities including retiree benefits and emerged from 

bankruptcy February 28, 2008.  http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Solutia 

136. After the appeal was filed in the instant case the Solutia plant in 

Decatur, Alabama, (formerly a Monsanto plant) employed a temporary 

                                                 
17 Defendants have refused to produce the personnel files for other Plaintiffs in 
Heptinstall v. Monsanto possibly because these files would also reveal that these 
employees’ termination dates were adjusted to reflect a year of service in 1972 as well.  
See Motion for Sanctions.   
18 When present-day Monsanto was formed through a series of mergers and maneuvers in 
2000, it agreed to indemnify Pharmacia for certain liabilities assumed by Solutia at their 
spinoff to the extent that Solutia fails to pay, perform or discharge those liabilities.  
http://www.prnewswire.com; see also Exh. O § 5.2.   A determination application (Form 
5300) is currently pending with the IRS for the Solutia Inc. Employees’ Pension Plan, 
which funds pension benefits for some but not all former employees of the Sand 
Mountain plant.  TR 248: L 13 to 18; Aff. Mitchell ¶ 13. 
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contract person to shred personnel files and other documents from the 

defunct Sand Mountain plant that had been stored in the basement for more 

than twenty-five years.19  Aff. J. R. Rives; Aff. E. S. Rives; Exh. Z.  

137. Defendants have a fiduciary duty to participants of the plan that 

includes maintaining documents necessary for the obtainment of benefits. 

See ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104-5, 440, 409; see also 29 U.S.C. § 1027; Exh. A 

(MON-003224). 

138. Monsanto and Solutia’s Compensation Allocation Agreement allowed 

full and complete access and cooperation between Defendants and Solutia 

regarding employee benefit records and complete access to documents in 

either party’s possession.20  Exh. O §§ 2.1, 5. 

139. The personnel files for the nonexempt participants’ who were 

identified by Plaintiff’s counsel early in this litigation as not being reported 

on Schedule SSA Form 5500 for 1980, 1981, and 1982, were among the first 

documents shredded by Solutia.  Exh. X; Exh V; Exh. Z.  

                                                 
19 Solutia who had a fiduciary duty to maintain records necessary for the obtainment of 
participants’ benefits shredded all documents stored in the Decatur plant with the 
exception of one or two items per file.  These records included personnel files, overtime 
records, pay records, documentation regarding unreported nonexempt participants with a 
deferred vested benefit, documents regarding the closing of the Sand Mountain plant,  
SPDs and other documents relating to the timing of the 1981 Plan, etc. Exh. Z. 
20 Pursuant to the Monsanto/Solutia’s agreements Defendants would have been held 
liable for breaches occurring before the distribution date.  Exh. O § 5. 
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140. The notice states the files are not to be destroyed or remove without 

specific authorization from the Law Department.  Exh. Y. 

141. Since the files were subsequently shredded, with the exception of one 

or two documents per file, it necessarily implies the Law Department gave 

its specific authorization for these files to be shredded. Exh. Z; Exhs. X; X-

1; X-2. 

142. Plaintiff’s counsel was informed by Solutia’s HR employee that 

Monsanto’s legal department in St. Louis had requested personnel files and 

they had been sent to St. Louis.  Aff. 11 E. S. Rives ¶ 14. 

143. Based on overtime policies and records in the company’s possession 

in 1981when the plant was preparing to close, Gilley and other nonexempt 

participants’ were vested and entitled to a separated benefit generally if they 

were hired prior to September 1972, which supports Gilley and other 

employees’ testimony regarding the cutoff date.  Exh. G at 50: L 6-11; Exh. 

J at 16: L13 to 22; Exh. S at 98: L 11 to 102: L 7; Mr. Gilley’s Second Aff. ¶ 

16. 

144. Gilley’s termination and Employe(e) Status Sheets showing an 

adjusted termination date of 9-27-1982 and Mr. Heptinstall’s Employe(e) 

Status Sheet showing an adjusted termination date of 11-01-1982 reflect that 

Monsanto’s management in 1981 determined these nonexempt participant’s  
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were entitled to a year of credited service for 1972 and ten years of total 

credited service under the 1976 Plan.  Exhs. 16, 17, W-1. 

145.  Gilley is vested under the 1976 Plan with a right to 100 percent of his 

nonforfeitable accrued benefit derived from his employer’s contribution.  

Exh. 16-17.   

146. The 1981 Plan amendment adopted and made retroactively effective 

after Gilley was fully vested and entitled to 100 percent of his nonforfeitable 

accrued benefit cannot be applied to so as to cause forfeiture of already 

accrued benefits.  ERISA § 204(g). 

ERISA, IRC, AND FEDERAL COMMON LAW 

Standard of Review 

 Although ERISA is often cited as a well drafted and reticulated statute 

it contains no standard of review to be followed by courts when addressing 

various causes of action arising under ERISA.  The Supreme Court in 

Firestone Tire & Rubber Company v. Bruch addressed the issue of the 

proper standard of review to be applied by courts in suits brought 

specifically for the denial of benefits under Section 502(a)(1)(B), but 

declined the opportunity to set a standard of review for ERISA actions 

brought for statutory interpretation and violations under Section 502(a)(3).  

Firestone Tire & Rubber Company v. Bruch, 489 U.S. 101, 109 (1989).  The 
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First, Second, Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, and Ninth Circuits have all 

applied a de novo standard of review based on the reasoning that suits of this 

nature involve questions of law and statutory interpretation properly 

resolved by courts. See e. g. La Rocca v. Borden, Inc. 276 F.3d 22, 26 (1st 

Cir. 2002); Coan v. Kaufman, No. 04-5173 (2nd Cir. 2006) citing Burke v. 

Kodak Retirement Income Plan, 336 F.3d 103, 111 (2d Cir. 2003), cert. 

denied, 540 U.S. 1105 (2004); Wilkins v. Mason Tenders District Council 

Pension Fund, 445 F.3d 572, 581 (2nd Cir. 2006) citing Long v. Flying 

Tiger Line, Inc. Fixed Pension Plan for Pilots, 994 F.2d 692, 694 (9th 

Cir.1993); Rhorer v. Raytheon Eng'rs & Contractors Inc., 181 F.3d 634, 639 

(5th Cir. 1999)(applying de novo standard to question of law for breach of 

fiduciary duty under Section 502(a)(2); Simpson v. Ernst & Young, 100 F.3d 

436 (6th Cir. 1996); Silvernail v. Ameritech Pension Plan, 439 F.3d 355 (7th 

Cir. 2006) citing Small v. Chao, 398 F.3d 894, 897 (7th Cir. 2005); Calhoon 

v. Trans World Airlines, Inc. 400 F.3d 593 (8th Cir. 2005) citing Parke v. 

First Reliance Standard Life Insur. Co., 368 F.3d 999, 1006 (8th Cir.2004); 

Mathews v. Chevron Corp., 362 F.3d 1172 (9th Cir. 2004) citing Shaver v. 

Operating Eng'rs Local 428 Pension Trust Fund, 332 F.3d 1198, 1201 (9th 

Cir. 2003).  While Defendants previously urged the district court and the 
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court of appeals21 to apply an arbitrary and capricious standard of review in 

the instant case, Defendants now admit that the proper standard of review for 

claims involving statutory interpretation and statutory violation under 

Section 502(a)(3) is de novo.22  Respondents’ Reply “RR” at pp. 5-6. 

ERISA and Plan Amendments 

ERISA § 204 establishes benefit accrual requirements for qualified 

plans.  ERISA § 204; 29 U.S.A § 1054.  ERISA § 204(a)(b)(1)(C) states: 

A defined benefit plan satisfies the requirements of this 
paragraph if the accrued benefit to which any participant is 
entitled upon his separation from the service is not less than a 
fraction of the annual benefit commencing at normal retirement 
age to which he would be entitled under the plan as in effect on 
the date of his separation if he continued to earn annually until 
normal retirement age the same rate of compensation upon 
which his normal retirement benefit would be computed under 
the plan, determined as if he had attained normal retirement age 
on the date any such determination is made (but taking into 
account no more than the 10 years of service immediately 
preceding his separation from service).  Such fraction shall be a 
fraction, not exceeding 1, the numerator of which is the total 
number of years of participation in the plan (as of the date of 
his separation from the service) and the denominator of which 

                                                 
21 The district court finding a proven conflict of interest applied a heightened arbitrary 
and capricious standard of review.  The court of appeals citing Buckley v. Metropolitan 
Life, 115 F.3d 936, 939-40 (11th Cir. 1997), applied an arbitrary and capricious standard 
to what the court considered, based on Defendants’ misrepresentations, a de facto claim 
for benefits.  
22 Defendants urging the court of appeals to reverse the district court’s finding in favor of 
Plaintiff state “Although a heightened standard of review is appropriate where there is a 
conflict of interest, the undisputed evidence adduced at trial was that the Plan was a 
defined benefit plan funded by a non-reversionary contributions trust.  App. Brief at p. 
27.  In a footnote Defendants state “Funding of the Plan is outside the scope of the issue 
that the district court ordered to be tried [at Defendants’ insistence] at the hearing.  Id. at 
fn 6. 
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is the total number of years he would have participated in the 
plan if he separated from the service at the normal retirement 
age.  .  . 

 

ERISA § 204(a)(b)(1)(C).  

 ERISA places a duty on the plan administrator to furnish summary plan 

descriptions SPDs to participants within a specified time if modifications 

and changes are made to the Plan that have or may have an effect on 

participants’ rights and benefits under the Plan particularly in terms of 

eligibility.  See ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104.   ERISA § 101 (29 USC § 1021) 

reads:  

(a) The administrator of each employee benefit plan shall cause 
to be furnished in accordance with section 1024(b) of this title 
to each participant covered under the plan and to each 
beneficiary who is receiving benefits under the plan -  

(1) a summary plan description described in section 1022(a)(1) 
of this title; and  

(2) the information described in sections 1024(b)(3) and 
1025(a) and (c) of this title.  

ERISA § 101 (29 (29 USC § 1021). 

When material modifications are made to the Plan that affect or may affect 

participants’ rights and eligibility under the Plan, Section 102 describes the 

information and form in which these modifications are required to be 
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communicated to participants/beneficiaries and to the Secretary of Labor.  

Section 102 reads:  

(a) A summary plan description of any employee benefit plan 
shall be furnished to participants and beneficiaries as 
provided in section 1024(b). The summary plan description 
shall include the information described in subsection (b), 
shall be written in a manner calculated to be understood by 
the average plan participant, and shall be sufficiently 
accurate and comprehensive to reasonably apprise such 
participants and beneficiaries of their rights and obligations 
under the plan. A summary of any material modification in 
the terms of the plan and any change in the information 
required under subsection (b) shall be written in a manner 
calculated to be understood by the average plan participant 
and shall be furnished in accordance with section 
1024(b)(1) of this title.  

(b) The summary plan description shall contain the 
following information:  The name and type of 
administration of the plan; . . . the plan’s requirements 
respecting eligibility for participation and benefits; 
circumstances which may result in disqualification, 
ineligibility, or denial or loss of benefits . . .   

ERISA § 102.   

Section 104(b) directs the administrator to file with the Secretary of Labor 

and to furnish participants with SPDs at certain relevant times when there 

are modifications or change(s) that trigger such an event.  ERISA § 104(b) 

states: 
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Publication of the summary plan descriptions and annual 
reports shall be made to participants and beneficiaries of the 
particular plan as follows:   
 
(1) The administrator shall furnish to each participant, and each 
beneficiary receiving benefits under the plan, a copy of the 
summary plan description, and all modifications and changes 
referred to in section 102(a) –  
      
     (A) within 90 days after he becomes a participant, or (in the 
case of a beneficiary) within 90 days after he first receives 
benefits, or  
 
     (B) if later, within 120 days after the plan becomes subject           
to this part.  
    * * * 
The administrator shall furnish to each participant, and each 
beneficiary receiving benefits under the plan, every fifth year 
after the plan becomes subject to this part an updated summary 
plan description described in section 102 which integrates all 
plan amendments made within such five-year period. . .  
 
If there is a modification or change described in section 102(a) . 
. . , a summary description of such modification or change shall 
be furnished not later than 210 days after the end of the plan 
year in which the change is adopted to each participant, and to 
each beneficiary who is receiving benefits under the plan. . . .   

ERISA § 104 (29 USC § 1024). 

Qualified Defined Benefit Plans 

Employers have an incentive to provide deferred compensation i.e. 

defined pension benefit plans for faithful service rendered by their 

employees.  The employer gets to deduct contributions to the employee plan, 

a very favorable tax break, while holding compensation earned by the 
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employee for the services rendered in trust as an asset to the company until 

the employee reaches retirement age.  The funds held in trust are the 

property of participants, in effect deferred compensation to be provided at 

retirement age.  As an added bonus, employers benefit from higher worker 

retention.  According to IRS publication 794: 

A favorable determination letter [from the IRS] provides the employer 
a basis for deducting contributions to an employee benefit plan.  Whether a 
plan qualifies is determined from the information in the written plan 
document and the supporting information submitted by the employer.23  A 
favorable determination letter indicates that the terms of the plan conform to 
the requirements of section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  The actual 
operation of the plan determines whether it will continue to qualify.  
Generally, a plan qualifies in operation if it is maintained according to the 
terms on which the favorable determination letter was issued.  However, 
conditions may develop in operation that do not follow the written plan 
document, and they may jeopardize the plan’s qualifications.  Examples of 
common operational features that adversely affect a favorable determination 
are:   
 
Not meeting coverage requirements.  If a plan satisfies the coverage 
requirements of section 410, when the favorable determination letter is 
received, by meeting either the percentage test under section 410(b)(1)(A) or 
the classification test under section 410(b)(1)(B), but the plan fails to meet 
the coverage requirements in operation, the letter will cease to apply when 
the defect in coverage arises.  
 
Exh. A Department of the Treasury, IRS, Publication 794 (Rev. August 
1982) (MON 003221). 
 

To qualify for favorable tax treatment plans must cover a wide range 

of employees, non-HCEs and HCEs. See Exh. A Section 16 Form 5300; 26 

                                                 
23 Defendants have repeatedly refused, despite motions to compel, to provide the IRS 
Determination Packets (Form 5300s) for the 1976 and 1981 Plans. 
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U.S.C. § 410(b). Exh. 10 (MON 2697).  Qualified plans must cover at least 

70 percent of employees who are non-HCEs or the average benefit for 

employees who are non-HCEs is at least 70 percent of the average benefit 

percentage for HCEs.  26 U.S.C. § 410(b).  To qualify the Monsanto Pension 

Plan as a tax favored plan Defendants classified nonexempt “hourly” 

employees as salaried employees in order to meet the coverage test.  See 

Exh. A. § 16 Form 5300; 26 U.S.C. § 410(b).  

If coverage or benefits favor HCEs at plan conception or in operation 

the plan does not meet the coverage requirements of Section 410, and the 

plan is not eligible for favorable tax treatment.  Id. If the plan is operated in 

such a manner that discriminates against non-HCEs in favor of HCEs in the 

availability of benefits, rights, and features, then it does not qualify for 

favorable tax treatment.  See 29 C.F.R. § 1.401(a)(4)-1 to § 1.401(a)(4)-5.   

The funds held in trust are the property of plan participants who have met 

the service requirements of the written plan.  LANGBEIN, JOHN H. & BRUCE 

A. WOLK, PENSION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LAW 17 ¶ 4 (3rd ed. 2000). 

Once participants have completed the service requirements as setout in the 

written plan the employer has no property interest in the funds held in trust 

which belong to qualified participants.  Rochester Corp. v. Rochester, 450 

F.2d 118 (4th Cir. 1971) (“By rendering service for the period required 
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under the plan, the employee's rights to benefits under the plan are ‘earned 

no less than the salary paid to him (the employee) each pay period’ and are 

‘in the nature of delayed compensation for former years of faithful 

service’")(internal cites omitted).  

STATEMENT OF LAW AND FACTS 

The 1971 Plan and The 1976 Plan 

 The 1971 Plan used the “continuous service” method of determining 

credited service.  Exh. 1 at R3.  The 1976 Plan used the “hour of service” 

method of determining credited service including service credited under 

prior plans including overtime.  Exh. 5 at pp. 65-67; Exh. 2 at p. 41.  The 

1976 Plan was finalized in July 1979.  Exh. 10 (MON 2716); Exh. 11 (MON 

2383).  The 1976 Plan does not contain the 95-Hour Rule.  Exh. 5 at § 

18.5. 

The Amendment  

 There were no amendments reported on Form 5500 for 1979, 1980, 

and up to July 27, 1981, that triggered the furnishing of SPDs to participants 

and the DOL, and there were no SPDs furnished to participants in 1979, 

1980, or 1981.  Exhs. 10-12; see ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104.  A fortiori there 

were no amendments adopted prior to July 27, 1981, that made changes or 

modifications to the vesting schedule such as the 95-Hour Rule because such 
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a change or modification would clearly have an effect on participants’ rights, 

benefits and eligibility triggering the publishing of SPDs.  Id. The only 

amendment reporting such a modification or change meeting Section 101, 

102, and 104 requirements for furnishing SPDs to participants and the DOL 

was made in 1982.  Exh. 13.  This amendment, adopted 6-15-1982, is the 

only amendment formally adopted after the 1976 Plan was finalized 

triggering the furnishing of SPDs to participants and the DOL.  Exhs. 10-13.   

According to ERISA § 104 SPDs have to be furnished to participants and the 

DOL within 210 days of the end of the plan year when a change or 

modification is made and within 120 days of the amendment becoming 

subject to this part.  ERISA § 104(b)(2); 29 USC § 1024(b)(2).  The 

amendment, adopted 6-15-1982, is the only amendment during the relevant 

timeframe (1979 to 1983) that might have incorporated the “95 hour” 

equivalency because this amendment is the only one triggering the 

furnishing of SPDs to participants and the DOL.24  Exh. L (MON 001101); 

ERISA §§ 101, 102, 104, 203.   

 The amendment, adopted 6-15-1982, is not applicable to a 

determination of credited service for vesting purposes for Gilley and other 

                                                 
24 Highlights of the 1981 Plan furnished to participants in April 1981 announcing an 
increase in benefits did not mention the 95-Hour Rule while the 1981 SPD, which was 
never furnished to former Sand Mountain employees contains the 95-Hour Rule. Exh. 3 
& Exh. L.  
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nonexempt participants employed at the Sand Mountain plant who were 

terminated before the amendment was adopted.  Under 26 U.S.C. § 

411(d)(6), a plan amendment may not decrease benefits accrued before the 

amendment. IRC § 411(d)(6); see also ERISA § 204(g).   

Election of Favorable Vesting Schedules 

Even if, benefits did not accrue before the amendment, which they 

did, the plan in order to satisfy ERISA and IRC regulations had to permit 

participants to elect the vesting schedule yielding their highest nonforfeitable 

percentage.  IRC § 411(a)(10)(B).  ERISA Section 203 (c)(1)(A) states: 

 
 A plan amendment changing any vesting schedule under the 
plan shall be treated as not satisfying the requirements of 
subsection (a)(2) if the nonforfeitable percentage of the 
accrued benefit derived from employer contributions 
(determined as of the later of the date such amendment is 
adopted, or the date such amendment becomes effective) of 
any employee who is a participant in the plan is less than such 
nonforfeitable percentage computed under the plan without 
regard to such amendment.   
 

ERISA §§ 203(c)(1)(A).   

Subsection (a)(2) of Section 203 states: 

(a) Each pension plan shall provide that an employee’s right to 
his normal retirement benefit is nonforfeitable upon the 
attainment of normal retirement age and in addition shall satisfy 
the requirements of paragraphs (1) and (2) of this subsection.   
    * * *  
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(2) Except as provided in paragraph (4), a plan satisfies the 
requirements of this paragraph if it satisfies the requirements of 
subparagraph (A) or (B). 
    * * *  
(A) A plan satisfies the requirements of this subparagraph if an 
employee who has completed at least 5 years of service has a 
nonforfeitable right to 100 percent of the employee’s accrued 
benefit derived from employer contributions. 25  
 

ERISA § 203(a)(2)(A); see also IRC § 411(a)(10).       

ERISA and the IRC direct that an amendment that alters the vesting 

schedule violates ERISA § 203 and IRC § 411(a)(10) minimum vesting 

standards if participants with significant service time are not permitted to 

elect to have their nonforfeitable percentage computed under the plan 

without regard to such amendment after reasonable notice of the 

amendment.26  ERISA §§ 203(c)(1)(B) see also IRC § 411(a)(10)(A)(B).   

ERISA § 203 (c)(1)(B) states: 
   

A plan amendment changing any vesting schedule under the 
plan shall be treated as not satisfying the requirements of 
subsection (a)(2) unless each participant having not less than 3 
years of service is permitted to elect, within a reasonable period 
after adoption of such amendment, to have his nonforfeitable 
percentage computed under the plan without regard to such 
amendment.27 

 
ERISA § 203(c)(1)(B)(emphasis added).   
                                                 
25 At the time the 1976 Plan went into effect Section 203(a) permitted qualified plans to 
have ten year cliff vesting schedules instead of five.  
26 Notice it is the latter of the two dates, the date the amendment is adopted or becomes 
effective.  
27 The length of service requiring full vesting and notice was lowered when ERISA’s 
vesting provisions were amended in the 1980’s.  
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  ERISA and the IRC require plan administrators to allow participants’ 

to elect to have their nonforfeitable percentage of accrued benefit computed 

under the plan without regard for such amendment when there is a plan 

amendment changing any vesting schedule under the plan.  ERISA §§ 105, 

203(c)(1)(A) & (B); IRC § 411(a)(10)(A)(B).  As of December 31, 1980, in 

the event of a “layoff”, Gilley’s percentage of his nonforfeitable accrued 

benefit derived from his employer’s contribution under the 1976 Plan is 100 

percent while his percentage under the 95-Hour Rule is zero.  Id.   

An amendment to a qualified plan violates subsection (a)(2) of 

Section 203 and IRC § 411(a)(10)(B)’s minimum vesting standards unless 

participants such as Gilley are given the option of electing the vesting 

schedule that yields the highest nonforfeitable percentage, in this case the 

1976 Plan.  ERISA §§ 202 (a)(3)(A), 203(a)(2)(A), 203(b)(1), 203(b)(2)(A), 

203(c)(1)(A); see also IRC § 411(a)(10).   

Discrimination Under ERISA § 510 

  The Code of Federal Regulations “CFR” sets out restrictions against 

discrimination in favor of HCEs for tax qualified plans.  26 C.F.R. § 

1.401(a)(4)-1.  Section 1.401(a)(4)-1 states:   

(a) In general. Section 401 (a)(4) provides that a plan is a 
qualified plan only if the contributions or the benefits provided 
under the plan do not discriminate in favor of HCEs.  Whether a 
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plan satisfies this requirement depends on the form of the plan 
and on its effect in operation.  In making this determination, 
intent is irrelevant.   

      * * *  

(b) Requirements a plan must satisfy – (1) In general. In order 
to satisfy section 401(a)(4), a plan must satisfy each of the 
requirements of this paragraph (b).  
  
(2) Nondiscriminatory amount of contributions or benefits – (i) 
General rule.  Either the contributions or the benefits provided 
under the plan must be nondiscriminatory in amount.   
              * * * 
(iii) Defined benefit plans.  A defined benefit plan satisfies this 
paragraph (b)(2) if the benefits provided under the plan are 
nondiscriminatory in amount under § 1.401(a)(4)-3.  
Alternatively, a defined benefit plan satisfies this paragraph 
(b)(2) if the equivalent allocations provided under the plan are 
nondiscriminatory in amount under § 1.401(a)(4)-8(c).   
 
(3) Nondiscriminatory availability of benefits, rights, and 
features.  All benefits, rights, and features provided under the 
plan must be made available in the plan in a nondiscriminatory 
manner.  Rules for determining whether this requirement is 
satisfied are set forth in § 1.401(a)(4)-4. 
 
(4) Nondiscriminatory effect of plan amendments and 
terminations.  The timing of plan amendments must not have 
the effect of discriminating significantly in favor of HCEs.  
Rules for determining whether this requirement is satisfied are 
set forth in § 1.401(a)(4)-5(a). . . .  
 
(c) Application of requirements – (1) In general.  The 
requirements of paragraph (b) of this section must be applied in 
accordance with the rules set forth in this paragraph (c). 
 
(2) Interpretation.  The provisions of §§ 1.401(a)(4)-1 through 
1.401(a)(4)-13 must be interpreted in a reasonable manner 
consistent with the purpose of preventing discrimination in 
favor of HCEs. 
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      * * * 

(10) Vesting. A plan does not satisfy the nondiscriminatory amount 
requirement of paragraph (b)(2) and (b)(3) of this section unless it 
satisfies § 1.401(a)4-11(c) with respect to the manner employees vest 
in their accrued benefits. 

   
(11) Crediting service. A plan does not satisfy paragraphs (b)(2) and 
(b)(3) of this section unless it satisfies § 1.401(a)(4)-(11)(d) with 
respect to the manner in which employees’ service is credited under 
the plan.   

      * * * 

1.401(a)4-11(c) Vesting--  

      (1) General rule. A plan satisfies this paragraph (c) if the 
manner in which employees vest in their accrued benefits under 
the plan does not discriminate in favor of HCEs. Whether the 
manner in which employees vest in their accrued benefits under 
a plan discriminates in favor of HCEs is determined under this 
paragraph (c) based on all of the relevant facts and 
circumstances, taking into account any relevant provisions of 
sections 401(a)(5)(E), 411(a)(10), 411(d)(1), 411(d)(2), 
411(d)(3), 411(e), and 420(c)(2), and taking into account any 
plan provisions that affect the nonforfeitability of employees' 
accrued benefits  

      * * * 

Example 1. Plan A provides the six-year graded vesting 
schedule described in section 416(b)(1)(B). In 1996, Plan A is 
amended to provide the five-year vesting schedule described in 
section 411(a)(2)(A). To comply with section 411(a)(10)(B), 
the plan amendment also provides that all employees with 
at least three years of service may elect to retain the prior 
vesting schedule. The manner in which employees vest in their 
accrued benefits under Plan A does not discriminate in favor of 
HCEs merely because the prior vesting schedule continues to 
apply to the accrued benefits of electing employees, even if, at 
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the time of the election or in future years, the prior vesting 
schedule applies only to a group of employees that does not 
satisfy section 410(b). 
 
Example 2. The facts are the same as in Example 1, except that, 
for administrative convenience in complying with section 
411(a)(10)(B), the plan amendment automatically provides 
all employees employed on the date of the amendment with 
the higher of the nonforfeitable percentages determined 
under either schedule. The manner in which employees vest in 
their accrued benefits under Plan A does not discriminate in 
favor of HCEs merely because, for administrative convenience 
in complying with section 411(a)(10), the amendment exceeds 
the requirements of section 411(a)(10). The result would be 
the same if the plan amendment automatically provided the 
higher of the nonforfeitable percentages only to those 
employees with at least three years of service. 

 

26 C.F.R. § 1.401(a)(4)(11)(c) (bolding emphasis added). 

Applying example one above the amendment fails to comply with Section 

411(a)(10)(B) because Gilley and other nonexempt participants (non-HCEs) 

who are entitled to 100 percent of their nonforfeitable accrued benefit under 

the 1976 Plan’s vesting schedule have been denied their accrued benefit 

under the amended vesting schedule.  26 C.F.R. § 1.401(a)(4)(11)(c).  The 

1981 Plan amendment as it is now being applied by Defendants does not 

satisfy Section 411(a)(10)(B) because it is being applied purposely to cause 

forfeiture of nonHCEs’ benefits in a discriminatory manner in favor of 

HCEs. Id. 
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However, the 1981 Plan satisfied Section 411(a)(10)(B) until the 

present day plan administrator revisited nonexempt participant’s eligibility. 

A Plan can automatically provide all employees employed on the date of an 

amendment with the higher of the nonforfeitable percentages determined 

under either schedule to avoid discrimination in favor of HCEs.  Id; see also 

ERISA § 203.  Gilley’s Employe(e) Status Sheet and Computer Termination 

Files show his date of termination as 9-27-1982.  Exh. 16, 17.  Similarly, 

Mr. Heptinstall’s Employe(e) Status Sheet shows his date of termination as 

11-01-1982.  Exh. W-1.  In 1981, when Gilley and Heptinstall were placed 

on “layoff” their termination date was adjusted to reflect a full year of 

credited service for 1972 giving them ten years of credited service under the 

1976 Plan entitling them to their nonforfeitable accrued benefit.  Exh. 16, 

17.  To record a year of credited service for calendar year 1972 either the 

employment date or the termination date would have to be adjusted.  

Gilley’s adjusted termination date of 9-27-1982 comports with his testimony 

and the testimony of others regarding management’s setting of a cut-off 

date.  Exh. G at 50: L 6-11; Exh. J at 16: L13 to 22; Exh. S at 98: L 11 to 

102: L 7; Mr. Gilley’s Second Aff. ¶ 16.  Automatically, choosing the 

vesting schedule that yields the highest nonforfeitable percentage avoids 

issues of discrimination by protecting against forfeiture of non-HCEs’ 
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benefits in favor of HCEs.  IRC § 411(a)(10); 26 C.F.R. § 

1.401(a)(4)(11)(c).  Moreover, if the plan automatically chooses the highest 

percentage of nonforfeitable benefit determined under either vesting 

schedule then there is no violation of ERISA §§ 202 (a)(3)(A), 203(a)(2)(A), 

203(b)(1), 203(b)(2)(A), 203(c)(1)(A) or any need for notice.   

The opposite, however, does not apply.  Defendants, one and all, 

today have discriminated against nonexempt participants, non-HCEs, by 

taking the position in the interest of HCEs and the sponsor that revisiting 

benefit determinations is proper.  Defendants have for seven years 

maintained they have the discretion to pick the vesting schedule yielding the 

least nonforfeitable percentage of accrued benefit in this case zero.  

Defendants today in their operation of the Plan have ignored ERISA and the 

IRC and elected to calculate credited service under any vesting schedule 

listed in the Plan Document, or any combination thereof, which will result in 

forfeiture of otherwise nonforfeitable accrued benefit belonging to non-

HCEs.  See ERISA §§ 202 (a)(3)(A), 203(a)(2)(A), 203(b)(1), 203(b)(2)(A), 

203(c)(1)(A); see also IRC § 411(a)(10), 26 C.F.R. § 1.401(a)(4)(11)(c).  

See DExh. 11 (Ignoring the 1976 Plan and maintaining the 1981 Plan 

applied in 1980 prior to its effective date or its date of adoption).  The Plan 

is being operated in a discriminatory manner in favor of HCEs.  ERISA § 
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510.  While intent is irrelevant under Section 510, Defendants’ have, 

nonetheless, intentionally caused forfeiture of nonexempt participants’ 

accrued benefit in the interest of officers, shareholders, and other highly 

compensated employees.  Exh. A Pub 794.  

Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

Liability for breach of fiduciary duty: 
  

(a) Any person who is a fiduciary with respect to a plan who 
breaches any of the responsibilities, obligations, or duties 
imposed upon fiduciaries by this subchapter shall be personally 
liable to make good to such plan any losses to the plan resulting 
from each such breach, and to restore to such plan any profits of 
such fiduciary which have been made through use of assets of 
the plan by the fiduciary, and shall be subject to such other 
equitable or remedial relief as the court may deem appropriate, 
including removal of such fiduciary. A fiduciary may also be 
removed for a violation of section 1111 of this title. 
 

ERISA § 409, 29 U.S.C. § 1109. 
 
ERISA Section 510- Interference with Protected Rights   

Interference with protected rights  

It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge, fine, suspend, 
expel, discipline, or discriminate against a participant or 
beneficiary for exercising any right to which he is entitled under 
the provisions of an employee benefit plan, this subchapter, 
section 1201 of this title, or the Welfare and Pension Plans 
Disclosure Act [29 U.S.C. 301 et seq.], or for the purpose of 
interfering with the attainment of any right to which such 
participant may become entitled under the plan, this subchapter, 
or the Welfare and Pension Plans Disclosure Act. It shall be 
unlawful for any person to discharge, fine, suspend, expel, or 
discriminate against any person because he has given 
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information or has testified or is about to testify in any inquiry 
or proceeding relating to this chapter or the Welfare and 
Pension Plans Disclosure Act. The provisions of section 1132 
of this title shall be applicable in the enforcement of this 
section.  

29 USC § 1140, ERISA § 510. 

When Monsanto began having financial difficulties in the late 1990s, 

the company spun-off Solutia and some, but not all former Sand Mountain 

nonexempt employees who were participants in the Monsanto Plan became 

participants of the Solutia Incorporated Employees’ Pension Plan.  Exh. O.  

Solutia filed for bankruptcy protection in 2003. See supra ¶ 135; see also 

Varity Corporation v. Howe, 516 U.S. 489 (1996).     

In 2001, the “new” Monsanto was formed through a series of mergers 

and maneuvers. Exh. RR at fn 1.  Because the plan administrator failed to 

report nonexempt participants, non-HCEs, with a separated deferred vested 

benefit in 1981 and 1982, these participants were not considered in the 

actuarial accounting estimates for the plan’s minimum funding requirements 

which reduced contributions made by the plan sponsor to the trust.  Over the 

years the trust naturally became severely under-funded.28   

                                                 
28 Because the plan administrator did not report separated non-HCEs with a deferred 
vested benefit and because the trust is funded on an actuarial basis the trust would be 
severely under funded because funds held in trust for these participants would be used in 
lieu of contributions by the sponsor to fund new participants and higher benefits for 
HCEs.  
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Defendants today facing funding obligations for these nonexempt 

participants, non-HCEs, who were not reported, needed a way to ease the 

sponsor’s funding obligations to a severely under-funded trust and boost the 

Company’s profit margin.  The plan administrator provided the needed 

answer, namely by revisiting eligibility.  TR 343: L 16 to L 18; TR 353:L 13 

to 354: L 2.  When Gilley applied for his pension by telephone, as other 

nonexempt participants had done in the past, the Decatur benefit center told 

him initially there was no problem.  Exh. 29; TR 145:L8 to 146:L23.  

However, weeks later Gilley received a letter denying benefits without 

explanation. Id.  The plan administrator revisiting eligibility looked only to 

the 1981 Plan; the Plan adopted 6-15-1982 and made retroactively effective 

to 1-1-1981. Exhs. T, 13.  The plan administrator applying the terms of the 

1981 Plan found Gilley did not have ten years of credited service therefore 

he was not vested and entitled to his nonforfeitable accrued benefit.  Id.  The 

plan administrator never considered the 1976 Plan.  Exh. 36.  The 

Committee, who should be familiar with ERISA and IRC regulations, 

accepted the plan administrator’s recommendation without question and 

affirmed the forfeiture of Gilley’s nonforfeitable accrued benefit under the 

1976 Plan.  Exhs. 36, 36-1.   
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Defendants, by strategically denying eligibility for select “non-HCEs” 

based on demographics, as the plan administrator testified, could control the 

forum selection and obtain a favorable ruling to legitimize forfeiture of an 

entire group of non-HCEs.  TR 258: L 4-56; TR 345: L 10 to L 14 compare 

Exh. A IRS Pub. 794 regarding Form 5500.  If Defendants could conceal the 

existence of the intervening 1976 Plan all participants with a nonforfeitable 

accrued benefit under the 1976 Plan who did not have ten years of credited 

service under the terms of the 1981 Plan would forfeit their accrued benefit 

reducing the Company’s future obligation to contribute to the under-funded 

trust in the interest of its shareholders, officers, and other HCEs.  Parklane 

Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore, 439 U.S. 322 (1979).   

Fiduciary Duty And Litigation 

The plan administrator’s failure in 1981 or 1982 to report separated 

nonexempt participants with a deferred vested benefit on Form 5500 left the 

door open for Defendants today to deny nonexempt participants with an 

accrued benefit under the 1976 Plan based on precedent set by the denial of 

benefits to Gilley and a few other select participants.   ERISA § 104; Exh. A 

IRS Pub. 794 regarding Form 5500; Exh. X.  After seeking legal assistance 

Gilley filed a notice of administrative appeal and requested pertinent plan 

documents. Exh. 32.  The plan administrator responded that the documents 
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were the Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan (1981) and the 

Benefits Booklet from 1981 without mentioning the 1976 Plan. Exh. 33. 

When Plaintiff’s counsel specifically requested the 1976 Plan, the plan 

administrator provided instead a conformed copy of the Plan containing the 

95-Hour Rule instead of the actual 1976 Plan.29  Aff. 10; Exh. 34 & 35.  

When suit was filed Defendants in support of their motion to dismiss 

submitted a conformed copy of the Plan containing the 95-Hour Rule as the 

actual 1976 Plan to further conceal the existence of the intervening 1976 

Plan.30  [R 8, 9, 19].  Counsel for Plaintiff realized that the Plan document 

filed by Defendants was not the actual 1976 Plan document and pointed this 

deception out to the Court.  Defendants, however, undaunted and confident 

in their ability to secure a favorable ruling continued with their strategy of 

ignoring the intervening 1976 Plan by suggesting without proof that the 95-

Hour Rule was adopted in 1979.31  TR 159: L 19-20.   

                                                 
29 The only notation that distinguished this document as not being an actual 1976 Plan 
Document was the single word conformed August 1980.  
30 Count three of Plaintiff’s amended complaint brings a claim under ERISA § 502(a)(3) 
for violation of Section 502(c) and/or Section 510 in regards to Defendants’ attempt to 
conceal the existence of the 1976 Plan by filing a conformed copy with the district court 
and for failing to provide Plaintiff with actual requested Plan documents. [R 35].  
31 Defendants, taking issue with Plaintiff’s position that the 1981 Plan was adopted in 
1982, argued to the Supreme Court that the precise date of the 1981 Plan was not 
identified in the record.  Exh. RR at fn 2. 
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Defendants convinced the district court to have a limited hearing on 

the issue of the number of hours Gilley worked in 1972.32  Defendants lost 

but appealed.  Defendants as they had done in the district court used 

misrepresentation and misdirection to secure a favorable ruling continuing in 

their portrayal of the case as a simple denial of benefits under 502(a)(1)(B).  

According to Defendants the district court merely awarded benefits to a 

sympathetic plaintiff who did not meet the service requirements under the 

1981 Plan.  Defendants failed to mention of the intervening 1976 Plan.   

Defendants then convinced the court of appeals that they were entitled to 

deference because they could not possibly have a profit motive because 

benefits are paid from a nonreversionary trust.  The court of appeal’s 

statutory analysis turned on Defendants’ representations regarding the 

timing of the 95-Hour Rule and the 1981 Plan and reversed the district court.  

Gilley v. Monsanto, 490 F.3d. 848, 860 (11th Cir. 2007); see also TR 71:L1 

to 74:L 26, TR 159:L 1 to 160:L 26.33     

  The trust here, however, is not a qualified trust.  Defendants have not 

adhered to IRC and ERISA’s standards for qualified plans.  While the Plan 

may have been established as a qualified plan in operation it has in fact 

                                                 
32 The actual issue is the number of hours of service Gilley had in 1972 not the number of 
hours he worked as Defendants maintained. 
33 Defense counsel in a footnote did point out that the issue of funding the trust was not 
raised during the August 2005 hearing.  App. Brief fn 6. 
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become a de facto deferred compensation plan for HCEs.  Defendants have 

misused trust assets to fund HCEs while simultaneously accepting the perks 

of a qualified plan, including but not limited to tax favored contributions and 

worker retention.  Defendants in the interest of the officers, shareholders, 

and other highly compensated employees’ of the Company have openly 

breached their fiduciary duty to act solely in the interest of plan participants 

taking actions against nonHCEs to intentionally cause forfeiture of pensions. 

Plant Closure  

 Defendants breached their fiduciary duty to non-HCE participants by 

closing the Sand Mountain and another plant in Fayetteville North Carolina 

and by failing to report nonexempt participants with a deferred vested 

benefit on Form 5500 for 1980, 1981 and 1982. Compare Exhs. X with Exhs 

11-1 to 13-1; see also Exh. X-2.  The plan administrator for Monsanto in 

1981 and 1982 reported only 28 salaried low level exempt participants 

(team-leaders) who were terminated from the Sand Mountain plant who 

were known to be entitled to a separated deferred vested benefit on Schedule 

SSA out of a work force of over 1200 at peak production.34  Exh. X-1 

compare Exhs. 11-1, 12-1 & 13-1; see also ¶ 52 infra.   Moreover, the plan 

                                                 
34 When the plant closed there over 650 employees still working at the plant and because 
Monsanto laid off employees in 1980 prior to the closing based on seniority the retained 
employees would have the most credited service time.  Exh. X & Exh. X-2. 
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administrator completely failed to report over 80 separated nonexempt 

participants who were known to be entitled to a deferred vested benefit 

“non-HCEs”.  Exh. X; see also ¶ 51 infra; Exh. X-2.  The plan administrator 

did not report a single employee out of the 582 employees known to be 

working at the Sand Mountain plant when it closed as having a separated 

vested benefit.35  Exh. X-2; see also ¶¶ 55-56.  Monsanto’s plan 

administrator reported only 764 separated participants entitled to a deferred 

vested benefit for 1980, 1981, and 1982 world wide.  Exhs. 11-1 to 13-1.  

The Sand Mountain and Fayetteville plants that were closed during this time 

and the Sand Mountain plant alone employed over 1200 at peak production.  

Benefits accrue for non-vested participants, on an actuarial basis, and non-

vested benefits are considered in regards Plan’s funding.  Exhs. 10-13. 

Termination of participants to prevent vesting causes forfeiture of actuarially 

accumulated benefits that will be applied to reduce future contributions by 

the Company. See ¶¶ 16, 57 supra.  Preventing non-HCE participants from 

vesting is an attractive reason for closing the Sand Mountain and 

Fayetteville plants.    

 

                                                 
35 It is impossible to tell how many of these 582 employees were vested and entitled to a 
separated deferred benefit because the documents have been destroyed and Defendants 
refuse discovery. 
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Failure to Report non-HCEs  

The plan administrator’s failure to report separated participants who 

are known to be entitled to a deferred vested benefit is advantageous to 

the interest of shareholders, officers, and other highly compensated 

employees.  First, by not reporting separated nonexempt participants with a 

deferred vested benefit (non-HCEs) the plan sponsor conceals the fact that 

two plants were closed at a time which prevented many non-HCEs from 

vesting.36  Second, by not reporting non-HCEs with a deferred vested benefit 

the sponsor is relieved of funding obligations for these unreported 

participants.37   Third, by not reporting nonexempt participants the plan 

administrator is free to ignore non-HCEs in regards to annual benefit 

statements and other reporting requirements at a significant cost savings to 

the plan. See Affs. Womack, Segers, Strawn, and Mitchell.  Fourth, if non-

HCEs are not provided with annual statements and other benefit information 

this group of low level production workers will be less likely to apply for 

benefits when benefits come due.  Fifth, if non-HCEs go unreported the plan 

                                                 
36 By not reporting the termination of high numbers of non-HCEs the Plan creates the 
appearance of continuing to meet the nondiscrimination tests of Section 401(a)(4) thereby 
ensuring the Plan will continue to receive a qualified rating for favorable tax treatment.  
26 U.S.C. § 410(b).   
37 Sponsors are penalized for not maintaining minimum funding standards, which are 
measured on an actuarial basis considering the number of active and inactive participants 
reported as being entitled to an accrued benefit.  See 26 USC § 4971 (Taxes on failure to 
meet minimum funding standards). 
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administrator is free to revisit eligibility at a later date, as Defendants today 

have done to cover shortfalls in the trust.  Sixth, if eligibility is revisited at a 

later date there is little likelihood non-HCEs will be able to prove 

entitlement to benefits because much of the documentation regarding 

pension benefits has been intentionally destroyed.38  Seventh, by denying 

benefits at a later date when participants are most vulnerable few are likely 

to withstand lengthy litigation, seven years in the instant case.  Eighth, non-

HCEs participants, the working class (perhaps part of the demographics 

hinted at by Mr. Buettner), have the least means or ability to pursue the 

denial of their benefits.  Ninth, by not informing participants of the reason 

for denial of benefits few will pursue the matter beyond the administrative 

phase.39  All of these reasons for not reporting nonexempt participants with a 

deferred vested benefit favor HCEs by saving costs associated with the 

plan’s operation and by reducing benefits to non-HCEs.  The funds held in 

trust ultimately go primarily to HCEs.   

  Defendants have machinated an end-run around the statutory 

mandates for established qualified plans under ERISA and IRC regulations.   

                                                 
38 Defendants in cooperation with Solutia breached their fiduciary duty to nonexempt 
participants by destroying or by not preventing destruction of documents necessary for 
validation of non-HCEs’ benefits.  The documents stored at the Decatur plant may have 
been the only means of proving entitlement for these unreported nonexempt participants.   
39 Defendants also failed to give notice of the reason for the denial of benefits when they 
revisited benefit eligibility when non-HCEs applied.   
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The sponsor has reaped every benefit offered for a qualified plan while 

providing through artful operation a top-hat plan for its HCEs.  Defendants’ 

operation of the plan and its use of strategic litigation to establish precedent 

to divest non-HCEs of their rightful property, i.e. their accrued benefit held 

in trust and managed by Defendants, is a breach of their fiduciary duty under 

Section 409, interference with the obtainment of benefits and rights under 

Section 510, a violation of Section 204(g) for divesting participants of their 

fully nonforfeitable accrued benefit, and discrimination in favor of HCEs 

over non-HCEs.   

  If any fiduciary, for example an attorney, used trust funds as 

Defendants have used funds held in trust belonging to these nonexempt 

participants the attorney would be disbarred.  Defendants one and all as 

fiduciaries should be held to the same standard; they should be removed as 

fiduciaries.  Imagine a bank denying corporate customers access to their 

funds held in accounts.  Would the courts be lenient on a bank?   Would the 

court consider it punishing the bank if it required the bank to pay funds it 

held that belonged to its corporate customers?  Would the court consider 

some type of additional punitive sanctions for the bank’s theft of property?  

If the bank would be sanctioned for such conduct then punitive sanctions 
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should be assessed against Defendants.40  Additionally, pursuant to ERISA § 

302(f) the Court should notify the PBGC so that it can perfect a lien in favor 

of the Plan against the Company’s assess to cover the sponsor’s failure to 

meet minimum funding standards resulting from the plan administrator’s 

failure to report separated participants with a deferred vested accrued benefit 

on Form 5500 as required by law.  ERISA § 302(f).  Gilley and other 

nonexempt participants of the Plan are entitled to their nonforfeitable 

accrued benefit. 

CONCLUSION 

  “Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings, depositions, and 

affidavits show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the 

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Lowe v. Alabama 

Power Co., 244 F.3d 1305, 1307 (11th Cir. 2001) citing Pritchard v. 

Southern Co. Servs., 92 F.3d 1130, 1132 (11th Cir. 1996).  It is undisputed 

Defendants violated ERISA’s standards by closing the Sand Mountain plant 

and failing to reporting nonexempt participants with a known separated 

deferred vested benefit; by revisiting eligibility when non-HCE participants 

apply for benefits; by interfering with the obtainment of rights and benefits 

of non-HCE participants; and by operating the Plan in a discriminatory 

                                                 
40 Winterrowd v. David Freedman and Co., Inc., 724 F.2d 823 (9th Cir. 1984). 
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manner to cause forfeiture of accrued benefits in the interest of shareholders, 

officers, and other highly compensated employees among other violations.  

  Plaintiff, Wendell F. Gilley, both individually and as a representative 

participant of the Plan is entitled to summary judgment on all claims 

contained in the amended complaint under Rule 56 of the Fed. R. Civ. P.  

Plaintiff, the Plan and others have suffered injuries as a result of Defendants 

flagrant violation of ERISA and Plaintiff prays this Court will award such 

equitable and remedial relief as the Court deems appropriate, including but 

not limited to the removal of fiduciaries, notice to the PBGC of funding 

liability and the need for an equitable lien to be perfect on behalf of the Plan, 

individual restitution of Plaintiff’s accrued benefit, and a reasonable attorney 

fee taking into account Defendants’ intentional delay and abusive litigation 

tactics as a strategy to cause forfeiture of property held in trust belonging to 

Plaintiff and other non-HCE participants.  Defendants have pursued the 

taking of property belonging to participants through litigation at all costs 

including the integrity of the Court and the judicial process.  

         Respectfully submitted,  

/s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
_________________ 

      
Elisa Smith Rives  

     Attorney for plaintiff  
Wendell F. Gilley 
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OF COUNSEL: 
Elisa S. Rives, LLC 
2208 Ringold Street, Ste 103 
Guntersville, AL 35976 
Tel:  (256) 582-3559 
Fax: (256) 582-3559 
Cell: (256) 558-4626 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the 
foregoing was served by the electronic filing system for the Northern 
District of Alabama on the following counsel of record, this 20th day of 
March, 2008. 
 
BRYAN CAVE, LLP 
Jeffery S. Russell 
Darci Madden 
211 N. Broadway 
Suite 3600 
St. Louis, MO 63102 
 
BAXLEY, DILLARD, DAUPHIN,  
McKNIGHT & BARCLIFT 
Randy James 
Joel E. Dillard 
2008 Third Avenue South  
Birmingham, AL 35233 
Attorney for Defendants 
   
       /s/ Elisa Smith Rives 

_________________ 
       Elisa Smith Rives  

ASB # 9351-E61R 
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